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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA; TUESAY, MARCH 14, 2017 

[Proceeding commenced at 9:07 a.m.] 

 

 THE COURT:   All right.  Let's do this Willick case.  That's 

Marshal Willick versus Steve Sanson.   

 MS. LEVY:  Good morning, Your Honor.   

 THE COURT:   All right.   

 MR. GILMORE:  Morning, Your Honor.   

 THE COURT:   Counsel, if you'd give us your representations 

please.   

 MS. LEVY:  I'm Anat Levy of Anat Levy and Associates on behalf 

of the moving parties.  I'm here with my client, Steve Sanson, 

Veterans In Politics.   

 MR. GILMORE:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Joshua Gilmore of 

Bailey Kennedy on behalf of the Plaintiffs.  We also have 

Mr. Willick here today and Jennifer Abrams, co-counsel. 

 MS. ABRAMS:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Jennifer Abrams, bar 

number 7575, on behalf of Mr. Willick.   

 THE COURT:   All right.  The Clerk this morning handed me a 

copy of a motion to strike in response to Plaintiff's untimely 

supplemental brief.  And I had a chance to just briefly look at it.  

Apparently addresses the affidavit of Marshal Willick filed 

March 13th.  I have never seen this affidavit of Marshal Willick 

filed March 13th.  That would be yesterday. 
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  The law clerk placed on my desk all the motions for 

today, including this matter and the moving papers on Friday of 

last week.  I had a chance to read them both over the weekend and 

yesterday, but I have not seen Mr. Willick's motion, so that's kind 

of moot as far as today's concerned.   

  Let's -- I'm not going to rule on this 'cause they 

haven't had a chance to respond to it, so.   

 MS. LEVY:  Well, it's their -- they filed an affidavit and -- 

 THE COURT:   Okay.  I haven't seen the affidavit. 

 MS. LEVY:  Right.  But it's untimely anyway, and that's why I 

filed this motion. 

 THE COURT:   I haven't seen it.  So I -- and they haven't 

responded to the motion, so let's continue without it.  If -- 

Ms. Levy, this is your motion under the anti-SLAPP statutes.   

 MS. LEVY:  Yes.  We filed the anti-SLAPP motion, Your Honor, 

because under Nevada laws the -- 

 THE COURT:   You can be seated, sir.  You don't have to stand 

up.   

 MS. LEVY:  The Defendant made comments online under his free 

speech rights under the First Amendment.  They concern public 

matters.  And the Plaintiff in this case made -- filed a lawsuit 

for defamation and a host of other claims including RICO and 

emotional distress and on and on to try to get that taken offline  

 

AA001606



 

4 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 

Marshal Willick vs. Steve Sanson 

Case No. A-17-750171-C 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

to get those comments.   

There are five comments at issue.  The Plaintiffs say 

that there's many more than those five because it's been 

republished, but there are five that are alleged in the complaint.  

And if we deal with those five, it handles all the republication of 

those five.   

The Court has seen what the five comments are.  We've 

gone through in your motion to set out the proof to show that the 

comments were true, certainly substantially true.  They were -- 

three of them are privileged.  And certainly there was no malice, 

if anything, it's not correct.  And all of these statements were 

hyperlinked to the source materials which under law makes them not 

defamatory because readers can read the source materials and come 

up with their own conclusions as whether the statements are true or 

not or are opinion and therefore not actionable.   

And so we laid all that out in our moving papers as the 

Court knows and I'm happy to go through it if the Court would like?   

 THE COURT:   It's your motion, you -- whichever you feel. 

 MS. LEVY:  All right.  Well, why don't we go through them 

then? 

 THE COURT:   All right.  The -- 

 MS. LEVY:  And -- and just to set it out -- 

 THE COURT:   I have the complaint here. 
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 MS. LEVY:  Yes. 

 THE COURT:   I think the first one is on page five. 

 MS. LEVY:  Right.  I'm not reading from the complaint right 

now, I'm reading from my notes, but the -- the first statement 

that's complained about is the December 25th, 2016 statement that 

says, this is the type of hypocrisy we have in our community.  

People that claim to be for veterans, but yet they screw us for 

profit and power.  That statement was hyperlinked to a 

November 4th, 2015, interview that Mr. Willick gave to Veterans In 

Politics.   

That statement is opinion.  The word hypocrisy itself 

has been as a matter of law found to be opinion.  People that screw 

us for profit and power is certainly opinion.  The Supreme Court 

and other federal courts as well as Nevada courts have held that 

opinions are statements that cannot be definitively proven true or 

false.  So any kind of hyperbole like this, a statement of whether 

something's worth it, or someone's a hypocrite would fall under 

that category.   

  I also want to remind the Court that Mr. Willick himself 

called Mr. Sanson a hypocrite and -- and put that on online.  I 

think that was Exhibit 5 of Mr. Sanson's declaration showing that 

Mr. Willick posted a picture of Mr. Sanson online with the word 

hypocrite right across his chest.  And also, published a letter,  
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supposedly to Mr. Sanson, but it was never sent to Mr. Sanson, in 

which Mr. Willick posted on his website saying that Mr. Sanson is a 

hypocrite and more and a con-artist and Veterans In Politics is a 

fraud, et cetera and I lay all of that out in the moving papers.   

But in any event, we're still sticking with statement 

number one from December 25th, it also constitutes political 

speech.  And as because it -- it pertained to Assembly Bill AB 140, 

which dealt with whether veteran’s disability pay should be taken 

into account when figuring out spousal support for ex-wives or 

ex-husbands.   

And, as we laid out in our papers, political speech is 

given special leeway because people would expect the political 

speech would contain hyperbole and would contain very fierce debate 

and there's a strong government interest in making sure that that's 

protected.   

I also want to mention that this was an issue of public 

concern.  The Plaintiffs say that how can it be an issue of public 

concern when it pertains to a bill that was passed over a year ago? 

  THE COURT:  Mm-hmm. 

  MS. LEVY:  Well, case law is such that if under the Snyder 

case and U.S. Supreme Court has said if it has any -- if the 

statement has anything to do with political, social, something of 

general interest, then it is protected speech.  And so -- and it is 
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an issue of public concern.  So just because the legislation passed 

a year earlier doesn't mean it's no longer of public concern.  

There are people in the general population, including veterans, 

that continue to be affected by this rule, and Mr. Willick as we 

will argue afterwards, is a public figure.  He was against this.  

And -- and Veterans In Politics and Mr. Sanson have every right to 

point that out.  It has to do with the legislation.   

Every statement that was made by Veterans In Politics 

concern something in the public domain.  Nothing involved private 

facts.  Everything was either in legislative transcripts or in 

court records, et cetera.  So there was nothing hidden that was 

brought out into the public that wasn't already public.   

So moving on to the second statement which is the one 

dated January 12th, 2017.  This one seems to be the one that's most 

contentious between the parties.  This statement said, Attorney 

Marshal Willick and his pal convicted of sexually coercion of a 

minor Richard Crane was found guilty of defaming a law student in 

United States District Court Western District of Virginia, signed 

by U.S. District Judge Norman K. Moon.  A copy of that statement is 

attached as Exhibit 10 to Steve Sanson's declaration.  That 

statement was hyperlinked to the Review Journal article about 

Crane's conviction for -- 

 THE COURT:  I'm sorry, what does hyperlinked mean?   
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 MS. LEVY:  -- it means that there's a -- 

 THE COURT:  I'm an old Judge.  I don't understand this 

computer stuff. 

 MS. LEVY:  Yeah.  When you go online and you read something on 

the computer, there may be a phrase or an address or something 

that's generally it's in blue and you can click on that -- 

 THE COURT:  Okay. 

 MS. LEVY:  -- and it'll take you -- 

 THE COURT:  That's what a hyperlink is?   

 MS. LEVY:  -- to that document. 

 THE COURT:  I've seen that.  I just didn't know what they 

called it. 

 MS. LEVY:  Right.  That's called a hyperlink. 

 THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you. 

 MS. LEVY:  So that -- that article was hyperlinked to the 

Review Journal article about Richard Crane and it was also -- 

 THE COURT:  Who's Richard Crane?   

 MS. LEVY:  Richard Crane is a lawyer -- well, he used to be a 

lawyer.  He was -- his license was -- 

 THE COURT:  Okay.  I don't know Richard -- I don't know what 

he had to do with this. 

 MS. LEVY:  The statement mentions Richard Crane being accused 

of -- suspended because of sexual misconduct -- 
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 THE COURT:  Oh. 

 MS. LEVY:  And the Plaintiff says that when you wrote this, 

you made it sound like I too was convicted of sexual misconduct. 

 THE COURT:  Well, it does say that Attorney Marshal and his 

pal convicted of sexually coercion of a minor -- now, that's pretty 

serious if -- if what it says -- 

 MS. LEVY:  What happened, though, was that there were two 

commas missing from that statement and it should have read: 

Attorney Marshal Willick comma and his pal convicted of sexually 

coercion of a minor Richard Crane comma was found guilty of 

defaming. 

 THE COURT:   Okay. 

 MS. LEVY:  And that's the way it should have read and that was 

an inadvertent mistake.  And so the Defendant did fix that a few 

days later when the mistake was realized.  And he republished a 

corrected, clarified version of -- of the article.   

 THE COURT:  If the -- if the statement was defamatory when it 

was first written, does the correction erase the defamatory 

statement?   

 MS. LEVY:  Well, there's a couple of points on that.  First of 

all, to be defamatory, the statement must have been done -- made 

maliciously.   

 THE COURT:  Right. 
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 MS. LEVY:  Here you had a statement that with the commas, 

would not have implied -- 

 THE COURT:  Why does it have to be made maliciously?   

 MS. LEVY:  -- anything -- I'm sorry?   

 THE COURT:  Why does it have to be malicious?   

 MS. LEVY:  Because Mr. Willick, the Plaintiff, is a public 

figure.   

 THE COURT:   If he's a public figure.  I got to tell you, I've 

had some problems with your argument that he's a public figure, but 

we'll go on, we'll get to that. 

 MS. LEVY:  Okay.  Well, I can address that whenever -- 

 THE COURT:   Well, that's all right.  You can go ahead. 

 MS. LEVY:  All right.  So let's say he's a public figure or 

he's at a minimum a limited public figure.  The statement in that 

case must have been done maliciously; that's number one.  The 

statute -- Nevada Statute says, if you correct a statement that you 

put out there before a request for correction is made, which is 

what the Defendant did, then the other side is -- is entitled only 

to quote special damages.   

  And the statute defines a special damage as only those 

damages pertaining to business loss or -- or earning losses.  And 

there had been -- there's been zero, zero evidence of any such 

damage in this case.  This is the equivalent of a summary judgment  
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motion. 

 THE COURT:  Well, it's a little early to talk about damages in 

the case, isn't it?   

 MS. LEVY:  Well she -- the other side filed the action -- 

 THE COURT:  Well, I understand that, but -- 

 MS. LEVY:  -- and damages is an element of the claim. 

 THE COURT:  -- we'll -- we'll worry about damages if we ever 

get to a trial. 

 MS. LEVY:  All right. 

 THE COURT:  Let's go on. 

 MS. LEVY:  All right.  But the thing is, this is a summary 

judgment motion, and so on summary judgment -- 

 THE COURT:  It actually isn't.  I know both of you have 

referred in your motion to the fact that the summary judgment 

statute is referred to in the statute and it's not.  In 2013, the 

summary judgment reference was deleted.  So you're both dealing 

with old -- 

 MS. LEVY:  No actually -- 

 THE COURT:  -- old copies of the statute. 

 MS. LEVY:  No, Your Honor -- 

 THE COURT:  It used to be, you're right, it used to be treated 

as a summary judgment.  It is no longer treated as a summary 

judgment. 
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 MS. LEVY:  The statute was revised again in 2015.  And summary 

judgment was put back in there, Your Honor, so --   

 THE COURT:  Not in my copy. 

 MS. LEVY:  I have it right here, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  Well, I'll believe you. 

 MS. LEVY:  I have an extra copy and I can show it to you. 

 THE COURT:  But I -- the copy that I have doesn't have it in 

there.  Let's go on. 

 MS. LEVY:  Okay.  Well, I'll give you the citation.  It's NRS 

41.660 subsection 3 A and it says that the anti-SLAPP motions shall 

be treated, quote, as a motion for summary judgment.  The statute 

as revised in 2015 made substantial changes to the 2013 statute.  

And I have an extra copy of the 2015 statute that I'd like to hand 

the Court.   

 THE COURT:  Well, you can do that.  'Cause I -- you're talking 

about 41.660?   

 MS. LEVY:  One moment.  41.660 3A. 

 THE COURT:  I have what I believe to be 41.660 3A the current 

statute and it doesn't say summary judgment. 

 MS. LEVY:  What year is your statute, Your Honor?   

 THE COURT:  Well, I don't know.  It doesn't have any -- 

 MS. LEVY:  It needs to be the 2015.  And that's what I'll get 

for the Court. 
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 THE COURT:  I think it's -- I think it's -- well, anyway, I 

didn't think that it referred to summary judgments. 

 MS. LEVY:  Yes, it does.  Your Honor, may I approach?  Or give 

this to -- 

 THE COURT:  You certainly may.  My law clerk says it doesn't, 

so -- 

 MS. LEVY:  41.660 3A. 

 THE COURT:  Determine whether the moving party is established 

by a preponderance of the evidence the Plaintiff's case -- it 

doesn't say summary judgment.  It doesn't say summary judgment.   

 MS. LEVY:  I can take a look at it and mark it, Your Honor.  I 

don't have another copy of it.  Okay.  It -- it's an adjudication 

upon the merits.  And I've circled that provision.  And I'll find 

the other section, I'm sorry.   

 THE COURT:  In 2015 they took out clear and convincing and 

they made it prima facie.  But the summary judgment reference was 

taken out in 2013.  That's all right.  We can continue on. 

 MS. LEVY:  All right.  But it's -- I think it's critical 

though. 

 THE COURT:  Well -- 

 MS. LEVY:  Well, I have one section that I've circled.  Even 

the other side thought it summary judgment. 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Continue.   
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  MS. LEVY:  Yeah, 41.660(5) operates as adjudication on the 

merits.  All right.   

   In any event, we were talking about the second statement 

which was made which is January 12th, 2017.  It was hyperlinked to 

the order of the Court in the Virginia case which determined that 

Mr. Willick was guilty of defamation.   

The clarification was republished six days later.  And 

there's been no showing of malice by any evidence.  And there's 

been no showing of damages, special damages.  It also would fall 

under the fair reporting privilege, Your Honor, because it has to 

do with a court proceeding that the Defendant was reporting on.  

And it has to do with a matter of public concern because it 

involved a court proceeding open to the public.  It involved 

Mr. Willick who's a premiere family law attorney in this state.  

And we believe a public figure.   

The January 14th, 2017, statement that was on the 

Veterans In Politics’ website is the third one at issue.  Would you 

have a family attorney handle your child custody case if you knew a 

sex offender works in the same office?  Welcome to the Willick Law 

Group.  This was also linked to documents showing that Mr. Crane 

was working for Mr. Willick.  Mr. Crane is an attorney who was 

suspended by the State Bar for malfeasance, sexual malfeasance with 

a minor.   
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 THE COURT:  Is he a sexual offender?   

 MS. LEVY:  I'm sorry. 

 THE COURT:  Is he a sex offender?   

 MS. LEVY:  Yes. 

 THE COURT:  Okay.  I don't know him and I don't know anything 

about the -- 

 MS. LEVY:  Yeah.  He -- he was suspended and has not yet 

applied -- 

 THE COURT:  If -- if the statement's untrue, it's arguably 

defamatory, but if he is in fact working -- 

 MS. LEVY:  It's true. 

 THE COURT:  -- then it would be a true statement. 

 MS. LEVY:  It's a true statement. 

 THE COURT:  So I don't know whether he is or not. 

 MS. LEVY:  It is a true statement and the Plaintiffs -- 

 THE COURT:  Okay. 

 MS. LEVY:  -- have so admitted.  And just for the record, it 

was hyperlinked to the billing documents of the Marshal Law Firm 

showing that he's working there and billing.  It was privileged 

because it's part of the fair reporting privilege that Mr. Crane 

was suspended pursuant to public documents and it is a matter of 

public concern.   

  The next two statements at issue were both issued on  
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January 14th, 2017, and they pertain to the Holyoak versus Holyoak 

case.  That is a case that Mr. Willick was handling.  The first 

case -- the first statement says, Nevada Attorney Marshal Willick 

gets the Nevada Supreme Court decision colon, from looking at all 

these papers it's obvious that Willick scammed his client and later 

scammed the Court by misrepresenting that he was entitled to 

recover property under his lien and reduce it to judgment.  He did 

not recover anything.  The property was distributed in the decree 

of divorce.  Willick tried to get his client to start getting 

retirement benefits faster.  It was not worth, there's a typo 

there, hundred thousand dollars in legal bills.  Then he --    

 THE COURT:  Why is that a matter of public interest?  I mean, 

if it was just a case in the Supreme Court?   

 MS. LEVY:  Which part of it?   

 THE COURT:  Well, why is it a matter of public interest?   

 MS. LEVY:  Because Mr. Willick is, as he believes, the number 

one family law attorney in this state.  And what happened was he 

took on a case that had already been settled between the parties 

and there was an issue in that case -- in the Holyoak case -- 

 THE COURT:  I remember reading the case, but it wasn't, you 

know, it was just another case in the Supreme Court. 

 MS. LEVY:  Well -- well, actually it was not just another 

case.  What happened was that as part of the appeal -- the appeal  
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was over whether the pension fund should be -- 

 THE COURT:  Right. 

 MS. LEVY:  -- distributed to the ex-wife -- 

 THE COURT:  I remember the issue. 

 MS. LEVY:  -- now or afterwards.  Right.  But as part of that 

response brief which were attached -- 

 THE COURT:  Had to do with statute of limitations as I recall 

correctly. 

 MS. LEVY:  No, it wasn't statute of limitations. 

 THE COURT:  Maybe I'm thinking of a different case. 

 MS. LEVY:  Yeah.  Maybe.  This is -- this is a case in which 

the -- the ex-wife wanted the pensions to start right away and the 

husband said no, we had an agreement that it would start when I 

retire -- 

 THE COURT:  Right. 

 MS. LEVY:  -- whenever that is.  And the ex-wife said, no, it 

should be starting to get paid to me at the time that you're 

eligible for retirement.  But that was just - that was the main 

issue in the case.  And what happened -- 

 THE COURT:  Well, those are typical issues raised in family 

court. 

 MS. LEVY:  Yes.  But what happened was, Mr. Willick -- when 

the other side appealed it, Mr. Willick devoted about 40,  
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45 percent of his brief to trying to overturn Supreme Court 

precedence on the issue of survivability, survivorship rights, and 

a pension, which was another issue that he just wanted the Supreme 

Court to overturn.  So when you have a Supreme Court case that 

where one party is petitioning to overturn established precedent, 

that is of public concern.  And the issue of whether an ex-wife or 

-- 

 THE COURT:  That isn't what the anti-SLAPP statute is 

concerned about when it comes to issues of public concern.  I don't 

see this issue and the next one which you refer to, Willick loses 

his appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court, as being issues of public 

concern. 

 MS. LEVY:  Why, Your Honor?   

 THE COURT:  Well, first of all, you don't mean Willick -- 

Willick didn't lose an appeal.  His client may have lost his 

position.  Willick was the attorney for his client that lost the 

appeal.  So the statement is technically incorrect because Willick 

wasn't the -- wasn't a party.  He didn't lose an appeal.  The 

client lost an appeal, but every case that goes to the Supreme 

Court at least one half is losing the appeal; aren't they?  So that 

-- that's just not a matter of public concern.   

 MS. LEVY:  The fact that he lost the appeal isn't -- 

 THE COURT:  Everybody loses an appeal. 
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 MS. LEVY:  I understand. 

 THE COURT:  At least sometime. 

 MS. LEVY:  But that's not the part that's of public concern.  

The part that's of public concern was the fact that Mr. Willick was 

trying to overturn, set Supreme Court precedent, and establish new 

law.  And that is of public concern.  That's squarely on public 

concern. 

 THE COURT:  And lawyers do that every day, that's what they 

do.  And sometimes they win and sometimes they lose but -- 

 MS. LEVY:  And that's what makes it public concern. 

 THE COURT:  Those two things aren't a matter of public 

concern. 

 MS. LEVY:  All right. 

 THE COURT:  Let's get onto your motion. 

 MS. LEVY:  Whether Mr. Willick scammed his client is a matter 

of opinion.  There's case law directly on that saying that the word 

scam is opinion and we cited to that in the papers which I can 

quote if the Court would like.  It's the McCabe versus Rattiner 

case.  It says that using the word scam is -- is opinion.  And 

whether he misrepresented information to the Court is either true 

or opinion.  And whether the bill that Mr. Willick submitted for a 

hundred thousand dollars what's worth the services that he provided 

is of course a matter of opinion.   
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The document -- the statement was hyperlinked to the 

Lobello case which sets out what's needed for an attorney to 

recover his fees under a lien which is what Mr. Willick had done.  

He had put a lien on the Holyoak case.  And we still believe it is 

a matter of public concern under Snyder because it deals with 

political and social interest issues.   

  The next statement similar that he lost his appeal to 

Nevada Supreme Court. I hear what you're saying, Your Honor, about 

it being his client.  He was representing the client.  It was his 

brief.  He lost it.  Didn't make the new law that he wanted to 

make.   

So those are the statements at issue.  We set out in the 

brief what constitutes opinions.  How the hyperlinks to the source 

materials makes documents not defamatory because readers can review 

the source materials directly and make up their own minds.  And we 

also laid out the requirements for privilege, et cetera.    

   So under these statutes for anti-SLAPP, once the 

Defendant sets out a prima facie case for why the -- why the 

statements are a matter of public concern and should be protected 

speech, then the burden shifts to the Plaintiff to then come 

forward with showing a probability of success on the merits.  And 

they would need to do that for each of the causes of action.  And I 

can address that now or I can address it after they go whichever  
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the Court would like.   

I know you're going to tell me it's my motion, but I 

don't want to -- that's fine.  Then I'll address it now, because I 

don't want to miss something if you want to hear it. 

 THE COURT:  It's up to you. 

 MS. LEVY:  All right.  With regard to the cause of action of 

defamation.  We've shown in the brief, at least we believe we did, 

that each one of the statements constitute opinion which is not 

subject to defamatory -- defamation claim or fact or -- and is true 

or substantially true. 

 THE COURT:  Well, some of them are opinion that a statement 

that Willick was guilty or convicted of sexually coercing a minor 

would not be opinion.  That would be a statement of fact.  Now, it 

may be that that was an error. 

 MS. LEVY:  That was an error. 

 THE COURT:  I understand that, but at least at some point it 

was a -- 

[Recording error from 9:36 a.m. to 9:44 a.m.] 

 THE COURT:  All right.  We think we're back working again.  

Ms. Levy.   

 MS. LEVY:  We had just gone through defamation and why we 

believe that the Plaintiffs cannot show a probability of success on 

the merits with that cause of action. 
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The next cause of action are intentional and negligent 

infliction of emotional distress.  There have been no sufficiently 

outrageous conduct in this case to warrant a cause of action for 

that.  And in addition, the Snyder U.S. Supreme Court case says 

that you can't have intentional infliction of emotional distress 

over speech no matter how outrageous because what happens is the 

judgment of the jury ends up being a filter of what's acceptable 

speech or not.  So the Snyder case is very clear on that.   

And if the Court will recall in Snyder, you had a U.S. 

Marine who had just died in Iraq and he was being buried in 

Maryland.  And he had picketers from a local church come out there 

and start picketing outside of the funeral saying that IEDs are 

good and they're glad he died and whole hosts of things that are 

really outrageous for a family grieving the loss of their son in 

the military.  And the Court found that no matter how outrageous 

the speech is, you can't have it be subject to an infliction of 

emotional distress.  They also have not shown any damages in 

connection with that claim.   

On false light business disparagement, false light 

requires the public disclosure of a private fact.  There are no 

private facts here at all.  And there was nothing that would 

embarrass the Plaintiffs that's not already a matter of public 

record.   

 

AA001625



 

23 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 

Marshal Willick vs. Steve Sanson 

Case No. A-17-750171-C 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

Business disparagement again, you have to show that the 

statements were false or were not opinion and you have to show 

special damages.  And the special damages have to be specially pled 

and there's no indication at all and certainly no evidence that was 

proffered in opposition to our motion that shows these kinds of 

damages.  The Plaintiff has said, well, we were subject to some 

negative statements online, but those negative statements don't 

show damages to your business.  And they're not actionable.  And 

they're hearsay.   

The next cause of action that we have was one for RICO.  

RICO, Your Honor, they have not -- they've pled one RICO predicate 

crime.  And that one crime, out of all the ones, listed is the only 

one that -- that falls under the RICO statute.  But that one 

allegation of fraud, there's no allegation of what the fraudulent 

claims are, there's no allegation that the fraud was committed 

against the Plaintiffs, there's no -- anything about it other than 

a recitation of a legal elements of that alleged criminal act.   

   With regard to copyright infringement, Your Honor, I 

think the Court knows the Court has no subject matter of 

jurisdiction over federal copyright claims.  And that, of course, 

should be stricken.   

We have filed 12(b)(5), 12(b)(1), and motions to strike 

in addition because just the timing -- 
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 THE COURT:  Yeah.  All these arguments are contained in 

another motion you've got set for another date; aren't they?   

 MS. LEVY:  Well, they're -- they're both relevant because here 

we -- 

 THE COURT:  'Cause I haven't really prepared those other 

motions. 

 MS. LEVY:  All right. 

 THE COURT:  So why don't we address though when we get to the 

-- 

 MS. LEVY:  All right.  I was just trying to show there was no 

probability of success on the merits of those claims.  So that's 

why it's -- it was relevant here. 

 THE COURT:  Okay. 

 MS. LEVY:  But, I filed those other motions because of the 

timing.  The 12(b)(5) had -- 

 THE COURT:   I understand and -- 

 MS. LEVY:  Yes. 

 THE COURT:  And I think they're set and I don't have it in 

front of me -- 

 MS. LEVY:  Yes.  April 2nd.  They're set to be heard.   

 THE COURT:  April 2nd.  Okay. 

 MS. LEVY:  Yes. Thank you, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:   Well, I'll be here. 
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 MS. LEVY:  Thank you, Your Honor.  

 THE COURT:  Unfortunately. 

 MS. LEVY:  Thank you, Your Honor.  That's all I have. 

 THE COURT:  April 4th?  Oh, the Clerk says it's April 4. 

 MS. LEVY:  April 4?  Okay.  I'll check it.  Thank you. 

 THE COURT:  I'll still be here, unfortunately.   

 MR. GILMORE:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Joshua Gilmore again 

on behalf of Mr. Willick and his law firm.  Your Honor alluded to 

this during counsel's argument today.  We're here on an anti-SLAPP 

motion.  We're not here on a motion to dismiss under NRCP 12(b)(5) 

or 12(b)(1).  We're not here on a motion for summary judgment under 

NRCP 56.  We're here on an anti-SLAPP motion -- 

 THE COURT:  Even though you're moving papers do mention 

summary judgment. 

 MR. GILMORE:  Well, and I think that comes from the Jones case 

back in 2009, Your Honor.  And I think the -- what we've seen at 

least in the Federal District Court is there's some confusion about 

that because you see the prima facie preponderance of the evidence 

and I think courts construe that to mean maybe we're close, but 

Miranda Du, for example, in the U.S. District Court has said, well, 

no, we can also look at the complaint and take that together with 

the evidence that you submit to decide whether this is anti-SLAPP 

material.   
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  But the point is this is an anti-SLAPP motion and there's 

two steps that the Court has to go through when you take on an 

anti-SLAPP motion.  Your Honor knows this.  The first and really 

the most important step and the one that's really glossed over 

today is whether or not the Defendant has been sued for engaging in 

statutorily protected speech or activity.  That's the most 

important criteria.   

  Not every defamation case falls within the anti-SLAPP 

statute.  If it did the statute would say, if you've been sued for 

defamation, you can bring this claim.  So the most important thing 

to do is to first assess whether or not each claim involves 

statutorily protected speech or activity.  If it does, then we get 

to the merits and we hear about public figure and privilege and 

hyperlinking documents.   

All of that is argument you take up if you get past the 

initial threshold when you're dealing with an anti-SLAPP statute.  

They're conflating the analysis to say, well, look we've 

hyperlinked documents so it's -- it’s okay.  Or it's substantially 

true or you can figure it out for yourself, so it's okay.  That's 

not what the statute asks about.  The statute says, has somebody 

engaged in statutorily protected activity?   

   So what does that mean?  Well NRS -- we start with NRS 

41.650, a person who engages in a good faith communication in 
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furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in 

direct connection with an issue of public concern is immune from 

any civil action for claims based upon the communication.  That's a 

long statement, but thankfully the Nevada Supreme -- the Nevada 

Legislature has defined that for us.   

Four types of good-faith communications that fit within 

that.  The only one that we're here talking about today is 

subsection four which says, a communication made in direct 

connection with an issue of public interest in a place open to the 

public or in a public forum.  They acknowledged in their reply 

papers that's what we're talking about.  We're talking about NRS 

41.637 sub 4.   

So what does that tell us?  The communications at issue 

here have to involve an issue of public interest.  Now, what did we 

hear today?  Well, these are issues of public concern.  And what do 

we see in their reply paper?  These are issues of public concern.  

Look at the Snyder case; look at what the U.S. Supreme Court said 

in a case that had nothing to do with anti-SLAPP motion.  First 

Amendment case.   

But let's look at Snyder.  Why don't we use the 

definition from Snyder to tell us what the Nevada Legislature means 

under NRS 41.637(4)?  Why would you do that when you have the 

Shapiro decision that the Nevada Supreme Court just came out with. 
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Where they say --   

 THE COURT:  I have the -- I have it in front of me.  

 MR. GILMORE:  Okay.  We take this opportunity to adopt 

California's guiding principles.  We now know what to look at when 

we're trying to figure out if a communication falls within the 

ambit of 41.637(4).  They don't even mention it.  Why?  'Cause they 

can't meet it.  They can't meet that criteria.  That's it.  We're 

done.   

  If they can't show that a communication involves a matter 

of public interest, as our Nevada Supreme Court defined that term 

specifically, then we're done.  And all this stuff can come up 

under their 12(b)(5) motion, can come up on a future 56 motion, but 

not today.   

  Because if you're going to bring an anti-SLAPP motion and 

you're going to say I want my fees and I want damages, well the 

Nevada Legislature said, well then, the burden's a little higher.  

It's a little higher to do other than just coming in here on a 

12(b)(5) motion.  Okay.  So they haven't done that, but I'll -- 

I'll go through that and explain why they can't do that.   

The other thing they have to do and the Nevada Supreme 

Court said this in Shapiro as well, is show that your statement is 

truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood.  The 

statute doesn't say, unless you've got a defense to that, you 
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hyperlinked some documents.  So even though you disseminated false 

material, you hyperlinked documents that lets you figure that out. 

That's not in the statute.  That's an exception that doesn't exist.  

They don't cite a single Nevada case that says I can avoid getting 

tossed out on an anti-SLAPP motion if I can show that even though I 

made a false statement, I hyperlinked.  That's a defense to a 

defamation claim, perhaps.  Doesn't work here.  But it doesn't work 

when you're trying to show that you fall within the purview of the 

anti-SLAPP statute.   

   Good faith.  The Nevada Legislature said it's got to be 

good faith.  You got to be speaking truthfully.  We don't have that 

here.  And we don't have matters of public interest.  Your Honor 

hit it on the head.  They're digging up old Nevada Supreme Court 

opinions and saying look what happened and spewing false and 

defamatory statements about those opinions and saying these are 

matters of public interest.  And you know what their hook is?  

Well, Mr. Willick's a prominent family law attorney.  It's a 

limited purpose public figure.  Not one of the five factors in 

Shapiro -- 

 THE COURT:  That's kind of crucial to their motion, making him 

a public figure is it not?   

 MR. GILMORE:  It is for the second step of the anti-SLAPP 

analysis; Your Honor doesn't get there.  Public figure, we look at 
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the five factors that the Nevada Supreme Court talks about.  Notice 

that the target of the communication, his or her status, isn't 

listed.  Why?  Because limited purpose public figure that addresses 

the burden of proof on a defamation claim.  We're looking at merits 

again.  We've gone past the first step.  They want to skip the 

first step of the anti-SLAPP analysis.  Why?  'Cause they can't 

meet it.  But again, and I'm going to beat this dead, and I 

apologize if I am. 

 THE COURT:  No, that's all right. 

 MR. GILMORE:  That's very important.  If they cannot meet the 

threshold showing.  That's it.  And I can read from a California 

case that says if the moving Defendant cannot meet the threshold 

showing, then the fact that he or she might be otherwise -- might 

be able to otherwise prevail under the merits, under the 

probability step, is irrelevant.  Irrelevant.   

   So Your Honor doesn't need to figure out today if 

Mr. Willick is a limited purpose public figure.  We don't get 

there.  We don't need to 'cause it doesn't matter.  The Supreme 

Court said we don't look at that.  That's not how we figure out if 

somebody is talking about a matter of public interest.  Not public 

concern. We can't just use a different term than what the Nevada 

Legislature uses.  And what the Nevada Supreme Court has said to 

use.  
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   So what do we have here?  At its core, we have a 

Defendant who has decided to go out of his way to dig up dirt on 

Mr. Willick.  And I can't make that up.  He said it in a post.  He 

said it in a post.  An independent body is offering up to $10,000 

for verifiable information on Nevada Family Court Attorney Marshal 

Willick.  It's their words.  What are they doing?  They're digging 

up dirt.  Anywhere I can find it.  I'm going to publish it on the 

Internet.   

  The Moon case, Your Honor, you may have noticed, 2008.  

2008.  They go back six years looking for something and say, well 

this is an issue of public interest.  Look at this.  Mr. Willick, 

family law attorney.  Everybody's got to be interested in that.  

No.  They go to the Nevada Supreme Court case the Holyoak.  That's 

almost eight or nine months old.  But they want to talk about it.  

Let's make it a matter of public interest.   

   What did the Nevada Supreme Court say?  A person cannot 

turn otherwise private information into a matter of public 

interest.  They're trying to convert what happens every day in 

Court as Your Honor said.  Happens all the time.  But let's make it 

a matter of public interest.  They can't do that.  They don't get 

to decide what is a matter of public interest.  There are factors 

that you go through.  They haven't even bothered to do that because 

they can't.  

   But let's look at what we have here.  The first  
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statement, Mr. Willick is out to screw veterans for profit and 

power.  Now, what you see a lot today is -- well, look at the word 

screw, that's not defamatory.  They say, look at the word 

convicted.  They try to cut up their own statements and say, we're 

not trying to defame him.  That's not how it works.  Okay.  You 

have to look at it what does the reasonable person look at.  You 

read it in context.  We don't pick words out of a sentence and 

decide whether, well, if that word's not defamatory even if it's 

built on some other stuff, well, now you're -- you're off the hook.  

It doesn't work that way.  Nevada Supreme Court says you look at 

the statement in its context.  What would a reasonable person think 

when he reads that statement?   

   But going back, he's out to screw people for profit and 

power.  What are they doing?  They're targeting one attorney.  Are 

we talking about all family law attorneys?  No.  Are we talking 

about veterans issues which is what the Veterans In Politics is 

what they're about?  No.  This is a family law attorney.  What 

issue of public interest?   

  They say, well, look, he used to talk about a legislative 

bill that was under consideration 18 months ago.  Wonderful.  And 

perhaps if this post had been made 18 months ago, well, now you got 

a hook.  But the bill went through the legislature, got amended, 

and it got passed and life moved on.  And now they can say, well, I 
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can go back in time and what was a public interest matter still is 

today.  No.  Doesn't get there.    

  The second statement, he was convicted, found guilty of 

defamation.  Six years ago.  Over six years ago [indiscernible] 

he's not guilty of anything.  Their own documents say that's 

defamation.  How's that public interest?  There's nothing 

innovative about that Moon decision that's creating new law on 

defamation.  Not a matter of public interest.   

  That the he has a sex offender working in his office.  

Public interest there.  Public interest.  The Nevada Supreme Court 

didn't disbar Mr. Crane.  Certainly entitled a petition for 

reinstatement, so if the public was concerned about him still 

working, he wouldn't have the opportunity to come back.   

  Fourth statement that he scammed a client and made 

misrepresentations to the Court.  It’s just a run-of-the-mill 

family law case.   

  And the fifth case -- opinion, you lost.  Again, these 

are not matters of public interest, Your Honor.  They don't fit 

within 41.637(4).  But they also don't fit within that statute for 

another reason.  Truth.  They have to show that these statements 

were true or they didn't know they were false.  They can't do that.  

They can't do that here.   

  It's not our burden.  If they want to fall within the  
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ambit of the anti-SLAPP statute, they have to prove truth.  They 

haven't done that.  What did they do?  Well, we hyperlinked to some 

documents.  You can see we're lying.  Go read the stuff yourself.  

That's -- that's not what the statute says.  They had to prove 

truth, they didn't do that.   

   What would they need to do?  Well, the first statement, 

he scams his client.  Do we see an affidavit from one client from 

Mr. Willick saying, oh yeah, he bilked me out of fees.  He's using 

me as a stepping stones to make his way in the Nevada legal 

community.   

Saying he is out for power and greed and profit, 

certainly defamatory to a lawyer who attempts to build a reputation 

to be known as a quality advocate.  That -- that's -- that's a deep 

shot at a lawyer who's been in the legal community for a long time. 

Somebody reading this might say to themself [sic], huh, the 

Defendant must have talked to some former Willick clients and 

really has somebody to back this up.  You don't see that.  They 

can't prove the truth of that statement.   

He was convicted of sexual coercion.  They don't even 

bother to try.  Instead, oh, God, we missed a couple commas, well 

those are -- 

 THE COURT:  I can see where that was an error. 

 MR. GILMORE:  That is a really important commas though; right? 
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Certainly very important commas. 

 THE COURT:  Without the commas, you're right. 

 MR. GILMORE:  Very important commas and you know what, with 

the Internet today, Your Honor, once it's out there, it's always 

out there.  It's -- it’s not that this floated in an RJ article 

that, you know, if you don't keep a copy of it, you'd have to go to 

the library and find it.  No.  Anything anybody puts on the 

Internet today, it's there forever.  Forever.   

 THE COURT:  I've heard that.  I -- 

 MR. GILMORE:  So -- and I can tell you, I know that.  But 

let's even set the commas aside.  Let's set those aside.  

Convicted, found guilty of defamation.  That's not true.  That's 

not true.  They don't even bother to try to prove the truth of that 

statement.   

  That he made misrepresentations to the Court.  That's a 

serious statement.  You're accusing a lawyer of violating Rule 

3.3(a) of the Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct.  We all know 

you can't make false statements to the tribunal.   

 THE COURT:  That’s true. 

 MR. GILMORE:  That's a fraud on the Court, Your Honor.  The 

underpinnings of that are grave.  For a variety of reasons.  What 

do we got?  Do we have a brief?  Do we have a sentence highlighted 

saying, look this was false?  Nope.  They don't try 'cause they  
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can't.  It's not opinion.  You can't come in and say, I was just 

trying to express my opinion.     

  A person's going to read that -- and it talks about I've 

read the files -- let's look at the wording that he used.  From 

looking at all these papers, he must have gone through the record.  

He must have read the opening brief and the answering brief, the 

reply brief, listened to oral argument, that's what you got to -- 

that's what you glean from this.  Did we see any of that?  No.  We 

don't see any of that.   

  And the last statement that he lost, as you said, his 

client, but no, he was the Respondent.  Order affirming.  He won.  

So they can't prove -- 

 THE COURT:  Is that right?  I didn't know. 

 MR. GILMORE:  It is. 

 THE COURT:  He was counsel for the -- 

 MR. GILMORE:  And if you'd like to talk to them about the 

case, you're certainly can.  But yes, he's counsel for the 

Respondent.  The order affirming the lower court decision.   

   So, Your Honor, two reasons they cannot seek refuge under 

the anti-SLAPP statute.  One, no communication here involves a 

matter of public interest.  We're not worried about public concern 

and First Amendment cases and the Snyder case.  We don't need that.  

Nevada Supreme Court has told us -- what do we look at?  Shapiro.  
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Go through the factors.  We go to California, you go through these 

factors.  None of them fit the bill here.  None of them.  And that's 

why they don't -- 

 THE COURT:  It has to be something of concern to a substantial 

number of people. 

 MR. GILMORE:  Correct.  And what here is a concern to a 

substantial number of people?  You haven't heard that from them, 

Your Honor.  They didn't put it in their moving papers.  They 

didn't put it in their reply papers.  It's too late to try to 

figure it out now. 

 THE COURT:  It has to be some degree of closeness between the 

challenge statements and the asserted public interest. 

 MR. GILMORE:  Correct.  And what we have here is the -- the 

caveat to that that's saying the assertion of a broad and amorphous 

public interest is not sufficient.  That's what we have.  Well, 

he's a prominent family law attorney.  Look he's written books and 

he teaches CLEs.  Everybody's interested in what he has to say and 

what he does.   

  You know, that can't be the law.  Otherwise, every 

reputable person in every profession, accountants, engineers, 

attorneys, doctors would all suddenly, anything you ever said about 

them would fall within the purview of the anti-SLAPP statute.  

Again, if you look at this, the target of the communication, his or 
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her status, is not a factor.  Why?  'Cause we don't get there when 

we're just trying to decide whether somebody has been sued for 

engaging in statutorily protected speech.   

  If they haven't -- as the Supreme Court -- as the 

California Courts have said, that's it, we're done.  You may be 

back.  You may be back here on a 12(b)(5) motion.  You may be back 

here on a 56 motion.  But we're not going to grant you relief under 

the anti-SLAPP statute 'cause that's a serious thing.   

  If you can't prove public interest, which is what we're 

dealing with here, and truth, and all these defenses that you want 

to raise they don't factor into the analysis.  They're conflating 

the analysis by talking about defenses to the merits.  When trying 

to explain how they've been sued for statutorily protected speech.  

  We can't conflate the two, they're very different.  

They're very different.  And if you don't get through that first 

threshold, their burden, that's it.  We're done.  And we may be 

back -- we'll be back here in April and Your Honor can take a look 

at the merits of a lot of these arguments and say, well, maybe the 

fair reporting privilege kicks in here.  So maybe as a matter of 

law, I'm going to dismiss this. But you're not dismissing under the 

anti-SLAPP statute.   

  I would submit and I'm -- I will address that briefly 

here today that the fair reporting privilege has no application  
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here.  But the point is, you don't get there today.  And that's why 

they spent just a minute or two in argument today talking about 

public concern.  And then 95 percent of the argument talking about 

the merits of the claims and the defenses that they have.  They 

want to just kind of brush that aside.  Of course --of course it's 

public interest, let's move on.  It's not that easy.   

  The California Supreme Court has said you don't just 

rubber stamp assertions of a claim falling within the purview of 

the anti-SLAPP statute.  You got to go through the analysis.  It's 

important to go through that analysis.  And if you don't do it, 

then you don't get the benefits of the anti-SLAPP statute.  

  Now, I will take up briefly, Your Honor, just the second 

step in case that you do find that you get there.  I don't think 

you do, but if you look at the second step which is, well, what 

evidence do you have to support your claim?  Minimal merit.  That's 

what the California Courts have said.  Minimal merit.  That's what 

we're dealing with here.  Do these claims have minimal merit?  

Absolutely.   

  You can't go on the Internet and say these things about a 

lawyer and expect to be immune from suit.  That doesn't work that 

way.  If you want to exercise your right to use social media 

platforms to publicly disparage someone.  Drag him or her across 

the metaphorical coals, you don't get to do that with impunity, you 
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don't.   

  What do we have here?  Screwing us for profit and power. 

Again, absolutely untrue.  You read that -- somebody's going to 

read that and say he's bilked a client or actually multiple 

clients; right?  And he takes on cases not because he's interested 

in you, but because he sees you as a stepping stone to get 

somewhere else.  That's defamatory on its face.  Has to be.  

Lawyer's reputation, it's one of the most important tools that any 

lawyer can have.  You're going to say this about a lawyer, I 

suspect you have clients who are going to come in here and attest 

to it.  Going to support you.  We don't have any of that here 

today.   

  The second statement, again the -- the missed commas, 

whoops, you know that's defamation even from before they corrected 

it.  If we're going to fight over damages and well, it was only six 

days’ worth before I corrected it.  What are we going to have to do 

in discovery?  Well, we're going to have to see how many people 

read that post.  And we can do that nowadays with the Internet.  

You can get on there and get tech people and that's beyond my pay 

grade, but you can get tech people to go in and say this many 

people accessed this article.  And this many people read this 

article.  And that rumor spread like wildfire.  Because that's what 

the Internet is capable of.  In an instant.  It's everywhere.  And 
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everybody sees it.  That's why it's so important to be careful what 

you say on the Internet.     

  But even if you want to set aside the missed commas, 

guilty of defamation.  You say he committed a crime.  It's a crime 

in Nevada and in Virginia to commit defamation.  You may not often 

see it charged.  You may not often see the DA indicting people on 

that.  We have a lot of other things to focus on, but it's a crime.  

People reading this and we actually showed proof think has he 

committed a crime?  Has he been indicted?   

  Why is that important to a lawyer?  Well, let's set aside 

the criminal implications.  State Bar of Nevada is going to be 

knocking on your door, saying did you report this?  Now we got to 

take you in front of a panel of the disciplinary committee and 

decide whether you're fit to continue practicing law.  That's a big 

deal to want to come in and say an attorney's been convicted, been 

found guilty of a crime.  That's defamation to do that.   

  This idea, well, I'm just reporting what happened.  The 

fair reporting privilege they talked about.  Well, that requires 

you to show an accurate and complete accounting.  That's right out 

of the Sahara Gaming case that they cite.  It's right out of the 

Restatement Second of Torts.  Accurate and complete accounting.  

That's not even close.  Not even close.   

  They're not the RJ saying, hey, we just read this  
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document, let’s be talk about it.  They're not a reporter on the 

news saying, here's the verdict, let's talk about what happened.  

We watched the trial.  That's not what he's doing.  We know it.  

We've seen the email.  We're paying for dirt.  What can you find 

about Mr. Willick that we can publish?  We're not trying to give a 

fair and accurate accounting of what we may find somewhere buried 

in the public record.  Oh no.  No.  We're going to take it and then 

say something that's completely inconsistent with what it says.  

You can't dawn the fair reporting privilege upon yourself and say, 

but I get to do that.  I'm a reporter.  No chance.  No chance of 

that.  None of this is an accurate and complete accounting.   

  They said he lost.  I mean, you got to look at the 

decision.  He's representing the respondent.  That's not a complete 

and accurate accounting of what happened.  Not even close.  He 

misrepresented things to the Nevada Supreme Court.  What do you 

got?  Nothing.  Nothing.  They're not reporting anything.  If that 

had happened, certainly somebody would be in there on a motion to 

set aside if he had misrepresented anything in his filings.   

  So, Your Honor, if you get to the second step of the 

anti-SLAPP analysis which I don't think you do, but if you get 

there, these claims undoubtedly have minimal merit.  You have the 

statements in front of you.  You have Mr. Willick saying under oath 

all of this is false.  All of this has hurt my reputation.   
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  They say well, it wasn't sufficient for him sign an 

affidavit supporting the opposition.  Where's the case saying that? 

So in effect in their theory, he needed to duplicate what was 

written in the opposition in an affidavit and attest to it.  Sure, 

you can do that, but it's no different than verifying a complaint 

which we see all the time.  And you can do that.  He's verified the 

opposition.  We have evidence.  He stands here and attests to it.  

He's here today.  Attests to how this has harmed his character.  

How these statements have impugned him.  And unquestionably, this 

individual was looking to do just that.  We know that.  The bounty 

email.   

  But if you're not certain, the other comment we made, 

here's the other post that he had where he says when people needed 

someone to get dirty so they can stay nameless, we do it without 

hesitation.  Without hesitation.   

  Now, again, you be talked about the limited purpose 

public figure earlier.  We don't agree with that.  But let's assume 

for the sake of argument we're -- we're bound to that.  That he is 

a limited purpose public figure and he has to show actual malice.  

Well, there it is.  Recall reasonable inferences are drawn in our 

favor.  We've not had an opportunity to depose the Defendant.   

  You're never going to find the email saying I'm acting 

with malice.  You're never going to do that.  Just the same as you 
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don't find an email saying, let's defraud so-and-so, here's how 

we're going to do it.  Circumstantial evidence is the only thing 

you have for that.  Between the bounty email and this email saying, 

we will drag people through the mud without hesitation, got it.  

That's what we're here for.  That's what they're doing.  That's 

what they're doing right now.   

  When they're digging up things about Mr. Willick, some 

back to 2008, and saying, oh, it's a matter of public interest, 

he's a big deal, that's why we're doing this.  We're here to help 

the public.  None of this is a matter of public interest.  None of 

this is defensible.  And so I'd submit, Your Honor, that if you get 

through the first threshold of the anti-SLAPP analysis, we've met 

our burden under the second step of the anti-SLAPP analysis.   

  Each of these claims has minimal merit and we ask that 

you deny the motion.   

 THE COURT:  Anything further?   

 MS. ABRAMS:  May I actually add just a little bit of 

information -- 

 MS. LEVY:  Objection, Your Honor. 

 MS. ABRAMS:  -- with regards to the allegations about the -- 

 THE COURT:  Is this a tag team?   

 MS. LEVY:  Objection. 

 MS. ABRAMS:  Your Honor -- 
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 THE COURT:  On what?   

 MS. LEVY:  Objection for two attorneys --  

 THE COURT:  Wait a minute, wait a minute, let me hear what she 

wants to add. 

 MS. ABRAMS:  I just want to add that the allegation that there 

was commas missing is absolutely false.  We've attached to the 

opposition and to the affidavit the actual postings, but the post 

was made 46 times -- 

 THE COURT:  Okay. 

 MR. ABRAMS:  -- on 7 or 10 different social media sites. 

 THE COURT:  I don't care how many times it was made that's -- 

 MS. ABRAMS:  The first time -- 

 THE COURT:  -- that's for closing argument for the jury -- 

 MS. ABRAMS:  Sure.  But the first time it was posted, it was 

posted without any punctuation.  The second time it was posted two 

days later, he actually did add a comma, but where he added the 

comma was after sexual coercion of a minor.  So the way it read, 

two days later, was attorney Marshal Willick and his pal convicted 

of sexually coercion of a minor Richard Crane was found guilty of 

defaming a law student.   

So what it did was it actually made it worse and made it 

more significant, more solid to make the allegation that he was 

convicted of sexual coercion.  There was a comment posted under 
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this to Mr. Sanson where this person, Lee Gilford, whoever it might 

be -- 

 MS. LEVY:  I do need to object.  This was all in the moving 

papers -- 

 MS. ABRAMS:  -- it was in the moving papers -- 

 MS. LEVY:  -- Your Honor, and some things were not -- 

 THE COURT:  Okay.  I remember reading about the commas in the 

moving papers, but thank you, Ms. Abrams, I'm going to let Ms. Levy 

-- 

 MS. ABRAMS:  -- may I just add one last thing about the 

correction?   

 THE COURT:  What's that?   

 MS. LEVY:  This is part of problem, Your Honor, how -- 

 MS. ABRAMS:  After he posted the correction, he reposted the 

defamatory -- the original defamatory material a number of times.  

At least 18 times.  And as we sit here today, 40 of those are still 

visible on the Internet.  He says in his supplemental affidavit 

that he's deleted them.  They're still on all of his social media 

sites.   

 THE COURT:  Well -- 

 MS. ABRAMS:  -- he deleted six -- 

 THE COURT:  -- Mr. Gilmore says it never goes away and I -- I 

have heard that so -- 
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 MS. ABRAMS:  -- but they're on his page. 

 MS. LEVY:  Your Honor, it's more than that, Your Honor. 

 MS. ABRAMS:  -- and he signed an affidavit saying to this 

Court that to his knowledge they've all been deleted. 

 THE COURT:  Okay. 

 MS. ABRAMS:  Six have been deleted and 40 still remain up on 

the Internet.  After he posted his correction, he posted it again 

another 18 times with the original lack of punctuation as he 

alleges. 

 THE COURT:  Sounds like your opening statement and closing 

argument to the jury, Ms. Abrams.   

 MS. ABRAMS:  Thank you. 

 THE COURT:  Okay.  Ms. Levy, anything further?   

 MS. LEVY:  Thank you, yes.  I have a lot further, Your Honor.  

Would you like me to stand at the podium or if -- 

 THE COURT:  It's up to you. 

 MS. LEVY:  All right.  I'll just stay here since I have the 

table here with my notes.  Numerous things that the Plaintiff's 

attorney has said that is not correct, Your Honor.   

First of all, the notion that this is not a summary 

judgment regardless of what you call it, it serves as an 

adjudication on the merits.  And the statute precisely expressly 

states, they have to come forward with a preponderance of evidence  
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of probability of succeeding on the merits. 

 THE COURT:  Well, that's if you get past this first stage.  

 MS. LEVY:  Correct.  All right.  So let's -- so we'll focus on 

that, but I wanted to raise that first 'cause they raised that 

first.  So there's still the issue of evidence.   

   I want to give some background on who Veterans In 

Politics is and I think that this was in my reply brief and the 

Court knows.  It is not that Mr. Willick was targeted.  It is not 

that Ms. Abrams was targeted.  It's not any of that.  What happens 

is Veterans In Politics is in the business of both lobbying for 

veterans and for rooting out wrongdoing in courtrooms and in 

government in areas of other -- in areas of government, so that's, 

you know, legislature, et cetera.  And when it finds things that 

are going wrong, for example, what Ms. Abrams did in her courtroom 

and what the Veterans In Politics saw with regard to Mr. Willick, 

it exposes that and it puts out articles on it.   

  There have been many disciplinary actions taken as a 

result of things that Veterans In Politics has exposed.  So they 

serve a critical function here.  And especially in the State of 

Nevada that’s got its roots in corruption.  So as the State is 

evolving -- well, it does, way back with the gambling.  And as the 

state is evolving and has become obviously mainstream, you know, 

there are still some problems that it's working out to overcome  
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that.  So I think we've got to look at this in the broader picture.   

  And to think that this is the only case that the 

Plaintiffs have filed would be absolutely wrong.  Apparently they 

think that everyone that criticizes them runs a RICO scam -- 

scheme.  Apparently they think that every time they get criticized 

they have -- 

 THE COURT:  We'll get to the RICO case at a later time.  I'm 

not so sure that they've got a RICO cause of action. 

 MS. LEVY:  All right.  All right.  I also wanted to address 

the issue of public concern versus public interest.  Your Honor, 

same thing, I think it's the same thing.  You have this United 

States Supreme Court -- 

 THE COURT:  Did you read Shapiro versus Welt?   

 MS. LEVY:  Yes, I did.  And we fall into -- I cited it in my 

moving papers.  That's why they cited it too.  I cited it and we 

went through the elements.  And I'll do that, first, if the Court 

wants.  But certainly a State cannot be more restrictive on freedom 

of speech than the -- than the federal constitution permits.  And 

the United States Supreme Court has said that anything that is of 

political, legislative, general, social concern is of public 

concern. Anything in those areas.  It doesn't talk about but only 

if the legislation is, you know, six months ago not a year ago.  

And only if the case was two years old not six years old.  It  
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doesn't make any reference like that.   

  Free speech is free speech.  This is America.  And this 

country was founded on free speech.  And it's especially important 

when you're trying to bring up free speech in your address and what 

happened in courtrooms and what happened in publicly filed 

proceedings.  

  So I want to talk about -- let's talk about the Shapiro 

case factors and go back to the Snyder case.  Under the factors in 

Shapiro, it says number one, public interest does not equate with 

mere curiosity.  Well, there's nothing here that's mere curiosity.  

These are all things that were reported in the Review Journal, were 

reported in various public places and are all part of public 

documents.  They pertain to laws that were hot -- heat -- hotly 

contested in the legislature.  They pertain to public proceedings 

that affect a huge percentage of the population, particularly in 

Nevada because they do pertain to veteran issues.  The AB 140 

specifically pertain to veteran issue whether veteran’s disability 

pay should be considered as part of spousal support.   

  The next prong, a matter of public interest should be 

something of concern to a substantial number of people.  A matter 

of concern to a speaker and a relatively small specific audience is 

not a matter of public interest.  Each of the statements at issue 

would pertain to a large number of people because they pertain to 
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either potential laws that are trying to be changed, case law 

that's trying to be changed, overcharging by a family lawyer. 

  And by the way, Your Honor, the fact that he's a public 

-- public figure is important because this is someone who has 

intentionally injected himself into debates at the legislative 

level.  Has taken out commercials.  Has a huge billboard in front 

of his -- in front of his law firm right across the street from 

Family Court.  He has -- he's put out all kinds of things on the 

Internet about his own firm.   

  And, by the way, Your Honor, I found it very ironic that 

the Plaintiff's counsel is talking about making disparaging 

comments online.  If the Court will turn to Exhibit 5 -- Exhibit 4 

and Exhibit 5 of Steve Sanson's initial declaration, you will find 

a letter that Mr. Willick posted online saying as follows:  

Veterans In Politics manipulates its candidate interview process.  

He accuses Sanson of using Veterans In Politics income for his 

personal expenses, not filing tax returns for Veterans In Politics, 

all of this is absolutely false.  Using Veterans In Politics as, 

quote, unethical scheme to extort concessions.  He further accuses 

Sanson of being a quote, hypocrite, but even worse, a sleazy extra 

out of Harper's -- Harper Valley PTA.  He says that Sanson is a -- 

the very definition of hypocrite not to mention is slimy beyond 

words.   
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  Mr. Willick calls Sanson say two-bit unemployed hustler.  

This is our veteran who served in the Marines for six years and the 

Army for another six years.  All right.  A two-bit unemployed 

hustler.  Accuses him of shaking down candidates for cash and 

conspiring with like-minded cronies.  He calls Mr. Sanson 

repugnant.  He says that Veterans In Politics weekly radio show, 

that's been going on for over ten years, is a fraud even though he 

himself appeared on it.   

  And by the way, most every public official in Nevada has 

appeared on it.  And he says that Veterans In Politics is a sham 

organization.  He says that Mr. Sanson was forced to flee 

California because of criminal wrongdoing.  Forced to flee 

California.  And this is the man who's now complaining because 

Mr. Sanson for Veterans In Politics said that he lost the case at 

the Supreme Court. So if we want to talk about putting things out 

on the Internet and the reprehensible nature of those comments, 

then Mr. Willick should look inward first, I would say.    

   And Mr. Willick didn't just stop at disparaging 

Mr. Sanson.  He also when he wrote to the legislature, he went on 

to the legislature to say how those who oppose what his point of 

view was on AB 140 are a bunch of crackpots.  They're a bunch of -- 

I'll tell you exactly what he said.  Well, we have it attached, 

Your Honor.  I'm not finding it quickly, but we have it attached as 
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an exhibit and I would direct the Court to take a look at it.   

  He goes on for pages talking about how irrational and 

irresponsible and crazy everyone is who opposes him.  And that -- 

he not just put in the -- on the Internet, but he put that as part 

of the minutes of the legislative proceedings.  So, you know, this 

whole thing of poor Mr. Willick got defamed, he's hardly the one to 

throw a stone on that issue.   

  I would also say that the day that lawyer's feelings are 

hurt or their reputation are hurt because someone said that they 

overcharged for services rendered would mean that this courtroom 

would be absolutely full of every lawyer in town.  That's what 

everyone thinks of lawyers anyway, so that's hardly defamatory and 

Plaintiff's counsel admits that that's an opinion.   

  How are you going to show whether that's fact or not?  

What they're really complaining about is the nature of the opinion.  

They think it's unfair.  And you know what?  That comment was 

hyperlinked to -- exactly as Plaintiff's counsel said, it was 

hyperlinked to the client's own -- Mr. Willick's client’s own brief 

opposing an award of fees to Mr. Willick.  And that brief laid out 

every reason why Mr. Willick was not entitled to his fees and 

should not be getting a hundred thousand dollars to simply deal 

with one issue after the parties had already come to an agreement.   

So these are opinions and what they're really upset about is the 
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nature of the opinions.  

  As far as the public concern, it does fit within each of 

the factors in the Shapiro case.  I think we need to go back to 

those.  I'm trying to find them in my brief, Your Honor.  I'm 

sorry.  Oh, I'm sorry.  Well, I just found what he said to the 

legislature.  He said, they're a so-called veteran's support group 

who seek to pervert the family law for their personal enrichment.  

This is exactly the type of speech he's now claiming that Mr. -- 

 THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  I didn't understand that.  What did he 

say?   

 MS. LEVY:  He said that the veterans who are supporting AB 140 

-- 

 THE COURT:  Oh.  Okay.  Oh, this is has to do with AB 140?  

Okay. 

 MS. LEVY:  Yeah.  He said they're so-called veteran support 

groups who seek to pervert family law for their personal 

enrichment.  He calls them hack-jobs, nut-jobs and say that they 

have an un-American political agenda.  These are veterans who put 

their lives on the line, have been maimed, thousands have died, and 

he says that they have an un-American agenda.   

  In any event, going back to the factors.  Factor number 

three, there should be some degree of closeness between the 

challenged statements and the asserted public interest.  The 
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assertion of a broad and amorphous public interest is not 

sufficient.  Well, the challenge statements all relate to items in 

the public domain in court proceedings or in legislative 

proceedings.   

 THE COURT:  Not all of them. 

 MS. LEVY:  All of them. 

 THE COURT:  Accusing them of sexual misconduct doesn't relate 

to matters in the Court. 

 MS. LEVY:  That's a Court proceeding, Your Honor.  That was -- 

 THE COURT:  I don't know. 

 MS. LEVY:  It's a court proceeding -- 

 THE COURT:  -- if it's -- if it's repeated on the -- on the 

web -- 

 MS. LEVY:  -- the statement was hyperlinked or linked to the 

court order of the Virginia District Court. 

 THE COURT:  Yeah.  But hyperlinking it doesn't change the fact 

that he said the statement. 

 MS. LEVY:  It actually -- there's -- there's numerous cases on 

this at the federal level, Your Honor, that when you -- including a 

New York Court that's applying Nevada law and it's -- it's the 

Adelson versus Harris case.  And I cite to it in the papers.  And 

it says, when you hyperlink, you are disclosing what your opinion 

or what your facts is based on.  And anyone can then read that and 
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make up their minds.  And so a defamation case cannot stand when 

you give people the underlying documents on which they can base 

their opinion.     

  And in fact, Plaintiffs themselves, have put in their 

opposition brief a statement that was put out by someone online 

saying hey, Mr. Sanson, you shouldn't have said that because I 

looked at what you hyperlinked to and that's not what it says.  

Well, that's exactly why it's not defamatory.  It’s because people 

can look at the underlying documents that Defendants themselves are 

making available -- 

 THE COURT:  And know that it's not true?   

 MS. LEVY:  I'm sorry. 

 THE COURT:  And then by looking at the underlying document 

they know that the statement is not true so that obviates the -- 

 MS. LEVY:  They can -- that does there's numerous cases on 

that point, Your Honor.  In fact, I quoted to it.  But regardless 

of that, even if you find that wasn't the case, you would have to 

show that there was malice.  The fact that he put out a -- a -- 

 THE COURT:  And that's if we find him to be a public figure. 

 MS. LEVY:  I'm sorry. 

 THE COURT:  And that's if we find Willick to be a public 

figure. 

 MS. LEVY:  Yes.  Which -- all right.  I still think he really 
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is because he fits every definition of a public figure under New 

York Times case and under the Gertz case.  He has purposely 

injected himself into the political discussions in Nevada about 

marital law, about all kinds of issues, disability benefits, 

veterans, you name it.  And he's not only put out books, but he's 

appeared -- he's regularly cited in newspaper articles the Review 

Journal, Elko this, and you name it.  He's all over the press.  He 

is absolutely a public figure.   

  As I would say an Erwin Chemerinsky is with regard to 

constitutional law.  He's a public figure.  He's the guy that 

people go to that put on TV that -- that -- he's the authority.  

And certainly I'm not agreeing that Mr. Willick is the authority, 

but Mr. Willick himself believes he's the authority.  So I don't 

even think he'll challenge you on that.  He says it himself.  So 

this is someone who is out in the public -- public place.   

  But regardless, the fact that it was corrected.  I want 

to address the issue of the original statement still being online.  

That original statement rests on the Defendant's Constant Contact 

account.  Defendant cannot take it down because the Plaintiffs 

wrote to Constant Contact and had them shut down his account.  So 

he cannot access that account because of the Plaintiffs’ own work, 

so -- own actions.  They shut down his account and now they're 

complaining that he can't take it down.  He has no access to the 
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account and hasn't any since February 1st.  When the -- when it was 

actually shut down.   

  And before that, he tried to take down everything that he 

knew he could, but -- but there are automatic settings on the 

Constant Contact account and now he can't -- he can’t take it down.  

So if they want to withdraw their complaint to Constant Contact -- 

 THE COURT:  You're talking above my level of understanding, I 

got to tell you. 

 MS. LEVY:  All right.  Here's the bottom line, he can't take 

it down because the Plaintiffs have made it impossible for him to 

take down. 

 THE COURT:  And that may be, I just don't understand computers 

that well.   

 MS. LEVY:  All right.  I want to go on to number four.  The 

focus of the speakers conduct should be the public interest rather 

than a mere effort to gather ammunition for another round of 

private controversy.  There's no private controversy here.  

Nothing.  Everything -- 

 THE COURT:  Well, they obviously don't like each other. 

 MS. LEVY:  I don't think they love each other, but I have to 

tell you, Mr. Sanson does not harbor ill will towards Mr. Willick. 

 THE COURT:  I'm glad. 

 MS. LEVY:  Yeah.  Veterans In Politics put things out on 

 

AA001661



 

59 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 

Marshal Willick vs. Steve Sanson 

Case No. A-17-750171-C 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

various individuals.  This is not a special case with Mr. Willick 

as Mr. Willick thinks it is.  So that's why, I mean, to think that 

well, because he said these things, he must hate me.  That's not 

the case.   

  I wanted to -- number five, a person cannot turn 

otherwise private information into a matter of public interest 

simply by communicating it to a large number of people.   

 THE COURT:  Now, that's kind of what he's done here; isn't it?   

 MS. LEVY:  No.  What private information, Your Honor?   

 THE COURT:  Well, information about his handling of cases in 

the Supreme Court and so on. 

 MS. LEVY:  That's not private information.  That's public 

record. 

 THE COURT:  Well, it's private in the sense, but it's his 

personal -- 

 MS. LEVY:  That's not personal either. 

 THE COURT:  -- communication with his client. 

 MS. LEVY:  What goes on in these courtrooms are absolutely -- 

this is the public's -- 

 THE COURT:  It's public -- 

 MS. LEVY:  -- this is the public's courtroom. 

 THE COURT:  But it's also private too.  Well, okay.   

 MS. LEVY:  The people's courtroom.  That's why -- that's why 
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all the pleadings are always open to the public to review.  This is 

why we have media who sit in and report on what happens.  This is 

not private information or anything that should be kept a secret.  

And the day it is is the day we have a major problem in our 

democracy, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  Okay.  All right. 

 MS. LEVY:  I wanted to go one other issue.  The issue about 

privilege.  Plaintiff's counsel said that it had to be accurate and 

complete accounting in order to take advantage of the reporting 

privilege.  Two points on that.  And he also said that this isn't 

the Review Journal.   

  Number one, the privilege does not apply only to 

traditional media.  It applies to any member of the public that 

puts anything out that's a matter of news or matter of interest.   

Number two, the standard is not at all accurate and 

complete.  If that were the standard then any time the Review 

Journal or newspaper quotes to anything, it would have to provide 

the entire speech that's provided by the speaker.  And that's not 

the case.   

The standard is actually fair and accurate.  So to the 

extent that these are fair or accurate and he's got the underlying 

documents there, it should fit within the privilege-- 

 THE COURT:  Well, they've convinced me that some of the 
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statements are inaccurate.  I mean, certainly -- 

 MS. LEVY:  The only one -- no.  The only one was the one in 

which he made an error with the commas.  That --  

 THE COURT:  How about the -- he was representing the loser in 

that lawsuit, he wasn't. 

 MS. LEVY:  Because 40 percent -- no. 

 THE COURT:  Wasn't he?   

 MS. LEVY:  It says that he lost the Supreme Court case. 

 THE COURT:  Right. 

 MS. LEVY:  Forty percent of his brief was devoted to an issue 

that the Supreme Court -- 

 THE COURT:  But he didn't lose the case; did he?   

 MS. LEVY:  It didn't say he lost the case. 

 THE COURT:  Well, that's the way I understood it. 

 MS. LEVY:  All right.  I'll read it. 

 THE COURT:  Attorney Marshal Willick loses his appeal to the 

Nevada Supreme Court. 

 MS. LEVY:  He lost the appeal.  Forty percent of his -- 

 THE COURT:  He lost the appeal?   

 MS. LEVY:  Yes.  Because he appealed -- 

 THE COURT:  He was the attorney for the loser in the case?   

 MS. LEVY:  He had two issues he was trying to -- 

 THE COURT:  First of all, he wasn't the appellant, his client 
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was; right?   

 MS. LEVY:  Right.  But what's the difference? What happened 

was -- I’ll tell you --   

 THE COURT:  Well, there's a difference, isn't there?   

 MS. LEVY:  Well, I'll tell you -- actually he was an appellant 

-- 

 THE COURT:  He was the party?   

 MS. LEVY:  Yes.  No, no.  His client.  I'm sorry.  I 

understand now.  I didn't understand what you just said. 

 THE COURT:  Well, he wasn't the party to the lawsuit; was he?   

 MS. LEVY:  No.  He was not, you're right. 

 THE COURT:  All right.  Let's go on.  Is there anything 

further?   

 MS. LEVY:  No, Your Honor.  He -- 

 THE COURT:  All right. 

 MS. LEVY:  All right.  Thank you. 

 THE COURT:  First of all, and I know that you've both talked 

about this and Mr. Gilmore doesn't think that it's as important as 

I do, but I -- I think the real key here is whether Willick is a 

public figure.  And while there's lots of attorneys that could be 

public figures, I suppose, if you were a prosecutor or maybe a 

defense attorney prosecuting O.J. Simpson for murder maybe you 

would be considered a public figure.  But I'm not at all convinced 
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that Mr. Willick is a public figure just because he's a -- claims 

to be a prominent attorney in doing family court matters.   

  I went and I looked up a case.  Fortunately, our Supreme 

Court now allows us to cite unpublished decisions in Doe versus 

Brown which is a May 29th, 2015, opinion of our Supreme Court.  The 

Plaintiffs were Mary and Phil Brown.  They were Chief Deputy 

District Attorneys in the District Attorney's Office and the 

comment complained about statements -- the statement that was 

complained about was that Mary Brown had been promoted due to 

intimate relations she had with Phil.   

  The Courts -- the Court said that she -- they were not -- 

and this was an anti-SLAPP case, the Court said that the Browns 

were not public figures.  And they cited that Gertz case that you 

have both referred to.  The Defendant argued that the Browns were 

at a minimum limited purpose public persons because of their 

professions and because they quote, thrust themselves into the 

spotlight by swearing out an affidavit about Judge Jones' 

inappropriate relationship with a prosecutor and then making it 

public by talking to the media.   

  Now, I do know the Jones case.  That was a case of public 

interest.  It was on the front page of the Review Journal many 

times.  And Jones' picture was there and I think he's in prison at 

this point, but I’m not -- he may be out by now, but that clearly 
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was a matter of public interest.   

  But the fact that the Browns had done that and then were 

-- were suing over this the Court said that they disagreed that the 

Browns had to prove actual malice.  As Deputy District Attorneys 

the Browns were government employees, not elected officials.  Now 

Willick isn't -- isn't even a government employee.  We conclude the 

Browns are not public figures.  Well, if they're not public 

figures, I can't see how Willick became a public figure.  I can see 

cases where prosecutors and defense attorneys might become, like in 

an O.J. Simpson case, but Willick isn't a public figure.   

  I also find that these are -- and I agree with 

Mr. Gilmore, that these aren't matters of public interest.  If you 

look at the Shapiro versus Welt factors, I don't think that these 

are matters of public interest.  So I'm going to deny the motion to 

dismiss under the anti-SLAPP statute.      

   The Plaintiff has asked for compensation, but in order to 

get there I would have to find that these are frivolous motions.  

I'm not going to make that finding, so I'm not going to award 

attorney’s fees at this point.  I'm going to ask Mr. Gilmore to 

prepare an appropriate order with findings.  Will you do that?   

 MR. GILMORE:  Will do, Your Honor.  And I'll run it by defense 

counsel. 

 THE COURT:  Will you run it by counsel?  
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 MR. GILMORE:  Yes, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  We'll see you in April.  

 MS. LEVY:  Your Honor, we have the right to an immediate 

appeal of the anti-SLAPP -- 

 THE COURT:  I believe that there is a right of appeal but I -- 

 MR. GILMORE:  We'll get the order done quickly, Your Honor. 

 MS. LEVY:  Well, no.  It's not just that, but if we can have 

the case stayed pending the appeal -- 

 THE COURT:  I'm sorry. 

 MS. LEVY:  Can we have the case stayed pending the appeal?   

 MR. GILMORE:  I think they'd have to file a motion to that 

effect, Your Honor.  We're getting a little ahead of ourselves.  If 

they want to -- let's get the order entered -- 

 THE COURT:  We can continue on with the other motions that you 

filed.  

 MS. LEVY:  Well -- 

 THE COURT:  Pending the appeal, can we not?   

 MS. LEVY:  -- the anti-SLAPP motion stays discovery, so I 

don't want to have to expand all -- 

 THE COURT:  No.  I don't want to go through discovery, but 

we've got some motions, some of which may have merit -- 

 MS. LEVY:  Yes. 

 THE COURT:  -- to dismiss other claims for relief. 
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 MS. LEVY:  I have no problem if the Court wants to --  

 THE COURT:  I'd like to continue on with those unless you 

don't want me to -- 

 MS. LEVY:  No, that's fine you can, but I don't want the case 

to proceed into discovery.  If you want to handle that and then 

stay it that's fine pending the appeal.  Because the whole purpose 

-- it's not -- 

 MR. GILMORE: [Indiscernible]  

 MS. LEVY:  -- and, Your Honor, if you don't want to reach 

those other motions, that's fine too. 

 THE COURT:  Do you want to -- shall we just stay the whole 

thing?   

 MR. GILMORE:  I think we go forward, Your Honor.  If they want 

to bring a motion to stay, we'll certainly take that up on the 

papers.  

 THE COURT:  Okay. 

 MS. LEVY:  Well -- 

 MR. GILMORE:  -- if they want to file it on shortened time to 

have you resolve it after we address the pending motions, we're 

happy to do that. 

 THE COURT:  Let's address the other pending motions and get 

rid of some -- some of those have merit, I think, and we need to 

address them.  
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 MS. LEVY:  All right.   

 MR. GILMORE:  And we'll take a look at that, Your Honor. 

 THE COURT:  Okay. 

 MR. GILMORE:  And we'll be back here on the fifth I think you 

said.  

 THE CLERK:  The fourth 

 THE COURT:  The Clerk -- I thought he said the fourth. 

Did you say the fourth? 

 THE CLERK:  It’s the fourth.  

 MR. GILMORE:  April 4
th
.  Okay.  

 THE COURT:  He says April 4, which is a Tuesday. 

 MR. GILMORE:  And I believe him.  Thank you, Your Honor.  We 

appreciate your time today. 

 THE COURT:  Have a good day. 

 MR. WILLICK:  Thank you for the time.  

 MS. LEVY:  Thank you, Your Honor.   

   [Proceeding concluded at 10:46 a.m.] 
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